
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 28 March 2017 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: G A Porter (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), M G Chandler (Deputy 
Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, C J Lawton, S-A Slade, G J Taylor, 
C N Johnson (Cabinet Support Member), E J Sneath (Cabinet Support Member), 
B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel) (Advisory Member), G R Aley 
(Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) (Advisory Member), A M Newton 
(Independent Group Leader) (Advisory Member) and A R Woolf (Chairman, Policy 
Development Panel) (Advisory Member)

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 3.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   20 March 2017



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence
 

2. Minutes
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet 
held on 14 February 2017 (copy enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
1 - 8)

3. Declarations of Interest
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders).
 

5. To consider any matters which have been subject to call-in.
 

6. To consider matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 
a)   Final Reports of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task 

Group
To report on the recommendations of the Policy Development 
Panel on work undertaken by the Reduction in Printing and 
Postage Task Group (report of the Reduction in Printing and 
Postage Task Group enclosed).

(Pages 
9 - 60)

7. Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan
For members to formally designate the Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan 
Area (report of the Portfolio Holder for Growth and Commercialisation 
and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
61 - 66)

8. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.



- 27 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 14 February 2017 at 10.00 am.

PRESENT

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

A Casson
P E Coupland

R Gambba-Jones C J Lawton

Cabinet Support 
Members: 

C N Johnson and E J Sneath

The Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer), the Executive Manager 
Governance, the Interim Chief Accountant and the Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors S-A Slade and 
G J Taylor.    

In Attendance:  Councillor B Alcock (Chairman, Performance Monitoring Panel), 
Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) and Councillor 
A M Newton (Independent Group Leader).

Community Representatives:  Business Organisations and Parish Councils.

Action By
32. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2017 were signed 
by the Leader as a correct record. 

33. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

Councillor Chandler informed the meeting that in relation to 
agenda items 9 and 13, in the interests of transparency, he 
wished it to be recorded that he was a Director of Welland Homes 
Ltd.  He remained in the meeting during discussion of this item, 
but did not vote.

Councillor Alcock informed the meeting that in relation to agenda 
items 9 and 13, in the interests of transparency, he wished it to be 
recorded that he was a Director of Welland Homes Ltd.  He 
remained in the meeting during discussion of this item.

Councillor Sneath informed the meeting that in relation to agenda 
items 9 and 13, in the interests of transparency, she wished it to 
be recorded that she was a Director of Welland Homes Ltd.  She 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 28 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

remained in the meeting during discussion of this item, but did not 
vote.

Councillor Coupland informed the meeting that in relation to 
agenda items 9 and 13, in the interests of transparency, he 
wished it to be recorded that he was a Director of Welland Homes 
Board.  He remained in the meeting during discussion of this item 
but did not vote.
 

34. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE 
COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders) 

35. TO CONSIDER ANY MATTERS WHICH HAVE BEEN SUBJECT 
TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in. 

36. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels. 

37. FINANCIAL FORECAST OUTTURN QUARTER THREE 2016-17 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which provided information on the draft year end financial position 
of the Council as at 31 December 2016.  A number of 
recommendations to full Council were approved.  The Financial 
Report for the quarter ending December 2016 was attached as 
Appendix 1 within the report.

Within the appendix, under Investment and Growth Reserve, it 
was stated that the contribution to the reserve represented New 
Homes Bonus grant received in year less £286,000 which had 
been used to support in year General Fund expenditure, and that 
this reserve would be used in future years to support the Council’s 
capital expenditure.  The Leader requested that the wording be 
amended to make it clear that the reserve would be used in future 
years to support the Council’s priorities, but any use should be 
released through a member approval process.

RECOMMENDED TO FULL COUNCIL:

a) That the report and Appendix A be noted, subject to the 

Page 2



- 29 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

change requested that the New Homes Bonus grant remain 
within the Investment and Growth Reserve to support both 
revenue and capital expenditure, as approved by members.

b) That the use of reserves, as set out in Appendix A – Table 3 is 
approved:

c) That the estimated underspend for the year is made available 
to contribute towards future budget deficits over the Medium 
Term Financial period; and

d) That the slippage in capital expenditure budgets between 
2016-17 and 2017-18 is noted, and that the necessary revision 
to the capital programme as part of the 2017-18 budget report 
is approved.

(Other options considered:
 To note the report and to approve the recommendations 

detailed within the appendix without amendments; or
 To note the report and not approve the recommendations 

detailed within the appendix.
Reasons for decision:

 To provide timely information to members on the 
anticipated overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resources re-allocation as necessary;

 To utilise efficiencies achieved in year to cover potential 
deficits in future years budgets due to delays in the Moving 
Forward Programme.) 

38. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL 
STRATEGY 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
which sought consideration of the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account 2017-18 draft revenue and capital estimates 
and the draft Financial Medium Term Plan.

The following documents were appended to the report, which had 
been circulated with the agenda:

 Appendix A – General Fund Budget 2017-18 and Financial 
Medium Term Plan 2017-18 to 2020-21

 Appendix B – General Fund and Housing Revenue Account 
summary 2017-18 to 2020-21

 Appendix C - Spalding Special Expenses
 Appendix D - Reserves
 Appendix E – General Fund Capital Programme 2017-18 to 

2020-21

Page 3



- 30 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

 Appendix F - Capital strategy
 Appendix G - Treasury Management Strategy Statement
 Appendix H - Fees & Charges

Within Appendix A under New Homes Bonus, it was stated that 
no payment would be made on housing growth below 0.4% of the 
Council Tax base in each year.  It was requested that the value of 
this percentage be provided.

Draft Spalding Special Expenses for 2017/18 were attached at 
Appendix C.  It was stated that the Spalding Town Forum would 
wish to consider these figures at its next meeting and it was 
requested that these figures should be made available to them.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) That the revenue estimates for the General Fund, Housing 
Revenue Account and Spalding Special Expenses for 2017-18 
(as set out in Appendices A, B and C) be approved;

b) That the use of reserves as set out in Appendix D be 
approved;

c) That Housing Revenue Account weekly dwelling rents reduce 
by 1% over the 2016-17 rent with effect from Monday 3 April 
2017, in line with current government guidelines and 
legislation;

d) That the fees and charges shown in Appendix H be approved 
for adoption from 1 April 2017;

e) That the Council Tax for a Band A property in 2017-18 be set 
at £109.89, a £3.33 per annum increase on 2016-17 levels 
(band D £164.84, a £5 per annum increase on 2016-17 
levels);

f) That the Spalding special expense for a Band A property be 
set at £15.38, £15.33 in 2016-17 (Band D £23.07, £22.99 in 
2016-17);

g) That the Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendices A and B) 
be approved;

h) That the capital strategy and capital programme (Appendices 
E and F) be approved;

i) That the Treasury Management Strategy, including the 
Minimum Revenue Provision policy and annual investment 
strategy in Appendix G be approved; and

Page 4



- 31 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

DECISION:

j) That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S.151), in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Finance, to make any necessary amendments to 
the budget prior to Council due to late notifications. 

(Other options considered:
 To note the report and to approve the recommendation 

with amendments; or
 To note the report and not approve the recommendation.

Reasons for decision:
 To comply with the budgetary and policy framework.) 

39. WELLAND HOMES FINANCIAL MODEL 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation which 
sought consideration of a financial model for Welland Homes 
Limited (Welland Homes).

Confidential appendices were attached to the report detailing key 
assumptions supporting financial modelling, financial impact on 
Welland Homes Limited and financial impact on the Council.

Clarification was sought with regard to details of activity identified 
for the period of the Interim Business Plan summarised at 2.7 in 
the report, and the properties listed at 4.5 in the report.  Officers 
advised that the report was the first part of a process to separate 
the Welland Homes Business Plan into layers with this initial 
report addressing the core business of the Company, private 
rented accommodation.  Further work would now be completed to 
address other aspects of the overall Business Plan, in particular 
development activity, and these would be brought back to Cabinet 
for consideration at a later date.

RECOMMENDED TO COUNCIL:

a) That the amendment to the Welland Homes Interim Business Case, 
as detailed in the report, be approved;

b) That the delegated authority, granted by Council on 25 March 2015 
to the  Executive Director - Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to 
approve the final mix of use of reserves and borrowing in line with 
the business plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy, be 
re-affirmed;

c) That delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director - 

Page 5



- 32 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

Commercialisation (the S151 Officer), to approve the terms of any 
loan agreements required;

d) That the Council reverts back to the original 2016/17 Treasury 
Management Strategy approved by Council on 24 February 2016 
with immediate effect but keeps the CCLA instant access money 
market fund counterparty limit at £10million rather than original 
£5million;

DECISION:

e) That the Capital Programme, included as Appendix E to the draft 
Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy Report to Council 
on 22 February 2017, considered as Item 8 on this agenda, be 
amended to reflect the amended programme set out in paragraph 
4.10.2; and

f) That the 2017/18 Treasury Management Strategy, included as 
Appendix G to the draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital 
Strategy Report to Council on 22 February 2017, considered as Item 
8 on this agenda, be amended to reflect the changes set out in 
paragraph 4.13.3.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendation. Whilst this option 

would provide time to consider the business case, it would 
in the meantime limit the delivery of housing from Welland 
Homes under the existing business plan and leave the 
Company unable to meet its contractual commitments with 
regard to Green Lane.

Reasons for decision:
 An update to the interim business plan provides the best 

delivery option during a period of uncertainty in relation to 
the future scale of development required.) 

40. SUB-COMMITTEE OF CABINET 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Strategy, Governance and Transformation and the Executive 
Director Commercialisation which recommended to the Cabinet 
the formation of a sub committee of the Cabinet to oversee the 
Priory Road Project.

Attached to the report at Appendix A was the Governance 
Framework for the project, and at Appendix B were the proposed 
Terms of Reference for the sub committee of the Cabinet to 
oversee the Priory Road Project.

It was noted that the scrutiny Panels would be involved as a Joint 
Panel in scrutinising the project from an early stage.  Its role was 

Page 6



- 33 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

to ensure that the whole project was scrutinised effectively and 
delivered on time and on budget.

Cabinet members felt that Priory Road project had been 
misinterpreted as a general refurbishment of the building.  The 
aim of the project was in fact to generate income and reduce the 
cost of the building to the taxpayer by providing public access to a 
number of services, in addition to the Council, at its current 
location.  It was suggested that a protocol for media relations 
relating to the project be set up. 

DECISION:

a) That a sub committee of three members of the Cabinet be 
established to oversee the Priory Road Project;

b) That the sub committee be delegated authority and powers as 
set out in Appendix B, working within the Council’s policy 
framework and approved budget;

c) That the sub committee of Cabinet is operational for the life of 
the Priory Road Project; and

d) That the sub committee shall invite other members, officers 
and external parties/advisors to contribute in an advisory 
supporting role as required.

(Other options considered:
 Do nothing – the risk of doing nothing and not changing the 

approach to how the project is overseen and delivered is to 
increase the pressure to deliver to key milestones and put 
at risk any potential interest of stakeholders being co-
located at Priory Road;

Reasons for decision:
 The formation of a sub committee of Cabinet to act as an 

Executive Delivery Board for the life span of the  Project 
will provide a robust governance framework, facilitate 
efficient decision making and will help to minimise risk to 
the delivery of the project to set timescales and within 
agreed budgets.) 

41. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of part 1 of 

Page 7



- 34 -

CABINET - 14 February 2017

Schedule 12A of the Act. 

42. WELLAND HOMES FINANCIAL MODEL 

Clarification was sought by members and received in relation to 
information detailed within capital costs. 

(The meeting ended at 10.37 am)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Friday 17 February 2017.  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 27 February 2017 (i.e. 
after the expiry of five working days from the date of publication of these minutes), 
unless during that period a notice which is signed by either a Ward Representative (in 
relation to a matter in their ward) or two members of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel or any three members, and complies with the requirements of the Council’s 
Constitution, is served on the Executive Manager Governance requesting that the 
decision be called-in and the Executive Manager Governance approves the request 
for call-in.  Where a decision is called-in it will firstly be considered by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel on a date to be fixed.

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 22 February 2017.

Page 8



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Reduction in Printing and Postage Task Group

To: Cabinet – 28 March 2017

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Officer)

Subject: Final Reports of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task Group

Purpose: To present the Final Reports of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task 
Group

Recommendation: 

That the recommendations of the three separate reports produced by the Reduction in 
Printing and Postage Task Group be considered.

 
1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1   The Policy Development Panel established the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task 
Group on 5 July 2016.  It commenced its work on 27 September 2016.

1.2 The scope of the Task Group was:

 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee agendas.
 To review the use of printed material produced by the South Holland Centre
 To review the use of printed materials produced in relation to electoral information, 

council tax and business rates
 To review the use of printed materials by officers
 To formulate a policy
 To make recommendations for reduction in use of printed material

1.3 The membership of the Task Group consisted of Councillors J R Astill (Chairman), H 
Drury, M Pullen and A Woolf.  Councillor Mclean was initially on the Task Group but 
withdrew after the first meeting and was replaced by Councillor Pullen.  The Lead Officer 
was Andy Prior.

1.4 At a meeting of the Policy Development Panel on 28 February 2017, consideration was 
given to the Task Group’s three final reports and recommendations.  Separate reports had 
been produced to address the following elements – Printing and Postage of Committee 
Agenda Packs; Printing and Postage of External Items and Printing of Officer Agenda 
Packs.  These final reports are attached as Appendices A, B and C respectively.  The 
recommendations in Section 7 of each of the reports were approved by the Panel for 
submission by the Cabinet.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The Cabinet may:

Approve the Task Group’s Final Reports and recommendations;

Page 9

Agenda Item 6.a)



Not approve the Task Group’s Final reports and/or suggest that some or all of the 
recommendations be amended; or
Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 The costs of printing and postage to the Authority had been identified, and the 
recommendations in each of the reports aimed to reduce these.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The recommendations detailed within the Final Reports would help to reduce the costs to 
the Authority of printing and postage through the implementation of new ways of working 
and more use of IT and technology.  The timelines for implementation of the 
recommendations would be considered and monitored by the Policy Development Panel.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 The recommendations will, if approved, result in the Council’s carbon footprint being 
reduced.

5.2   Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 The recommendations are in line with the Council’s aims under the Moving Forward 
programme.

5.3 Financial 

5.3.1 The recommendations detailed within the reports highlight potential savings of up to 
£12,637 per year although it is recommended that some of this is reinvested in AV 
equipment.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The conclusions of the report will impact all Councillors, officers and residents of South 
Holland.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 AV equipment  - Audio Visual equipment

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Andy Prior – Digital and Customer Access Manager
Telephone Number: 07870 835230
Email: andy.prior@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

Appendices attached to this report:

Page 10



Appendix A Final Report – Printing and Postage of Committee Agenda Packs
Appendix B Final Report – Printing and Postage of External Items
Appendix C Final Report – Printing of Officer Agenda Packs

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



South Holland District Council 

Review of 

Printing and Postage of Committee Agenda Packs

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                     

13th February 2017

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14



Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Scope of the Review

3. Membership of Task Group

4. Background to Review

5. Method of Review

6. Summary of Findings

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

8. Financial implications of recommendations

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review

10. Abbreviations

Appendices

A1. Summary of Agendas Produced – October 2015 to September 2016.

A2. Summary of Agenda Distribution.

A3. Members Survey Comments.

A4. Officers Survey Comments.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



Page 1

1. Introduction.

1.1 South Holland District Council is undergoing significant change through the 
commissioning of a Moving Forward (Transformation) Programme.  This is 
looking at all aspects of the Authority to identify ways of becoming more efficient.

1.2 A considerable amount of resources is spent each year distributing South 
Holland District Council agendas to Members and Officers.  This breaks down 
into:

 Paper cost.
 Consumables cost, including rental of devices and per page copy charge.
 Democratic Services Officer time, to print, collate and distribute agendas.
 Postage cost, at 1st class for those Members who do not collect from 

Priory Road.

2. Scope of the Review.

2.1 The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as:

 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee 
agendas.

 To formulate a member policy.
 To make recommendations for an officer policy.

The Task Group also looked at other internal/external printed material, but these 
are considered in separate reports.

3. Membership of Task Group.

3.1 The task group comprised of Councillors J Astill (Chairman), H Drury, M Pullen 
and A Woolf. 

3.2 Councillor J McLean withdrew from the task group and was replaced by 
Councillor M Pullen.

3.3 The lead officer was Andy Prior and the Task Group was supported by 
Democratic Services.  The Task Group would like to thank Shelley French for the 
initial work in collating details of agendas produced.

4. Background to Review.

4.1 The review was conducted following a request from the Moving Forward 
(Transformation) Programme and ICT Working Group requesting a review of the 
way Members receive agenda packs, with a view to making potential savings.

5. Method of Review.

5.1 The Task Group met several times between 24th October 2016 and 9th February 
to consider the printing of agenda packs.

Page 17



Page 2

5.2 Information was sourced from agendas printed between October 2015 and 
September 2016 for the following committees:

 Cabinet.
 Committee of the Licencing Authority.
 Full Council.
 Governance and Audit.
 Joint PDP/PMP.
 Licencing Committee.
 Licencing Panel.
 Panel of the Committee of the Licencing Authority.
 Performance Monitoring Panel.
 Planning Committee.
 Policy Development Panel.
 South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee.
 Spalding Town Forum.
 Standards Panel.
 Strategy Board.

5.3 For each agenda pack produced, the following was collated:

 The number of pages printed per agenda for the specified period.
 The distribution for each agenda.

5.4 Democratic Services / Compass Point Business Services provided:

 The cost of 1st and 2nd Class postage for the different weights and sizes of 
letters.

 The cost of rental of the two Democratic Services MFDs along with the 
cost per printing each page.

5.5 Members and officers to be surveyed across several questions associated with 
their use of mod.gov and how they receive agendas. 

6. Summary of Findings.

6.1 Printing and Postage.

6.1.1 The task group identified that across the period of October 2015 and 
September 2016 for the 15 committees, there were:

 87 individual meetings.
 2603 agendas printed.

6.1.2 The figures above translate to the following A4 paper usage:

 99780 sheets (printed as duplex so using both sides).
 199.56 reams.
 39.31 boxes.

Page 18



Page 3

6.1.3 The total cost of consumables (e.g. paper and printing costs) was £1237, this 
breaks down into:

 £739 for Members agendas.
 £153 for Officer agendas.
 £172 for Clerks agendas (used as spares for Members who forget their 

printed copy).
 £173 for Statutory purposes (e.g. access to information files, reception 

notice boards and external recipients).

Notes: 

 The costs exclude the quarterly rentals of £964 for the MPC8002 device 
and £81 for the MPC6501 device located in Democratic Services.

 The costs assume ALL printing is in monochrome, as it is not possible to 
estimate what proportion is in colour.  The cost per colour page for the 
Democratic Services MFDs is on average £0.03 higher than monochrome.

6.1.4 The estimated cost of postage for members is £1387.  This is calculated using 
the pricing information provided by CPBS.  A formula is used to estimate the 
weight of the agenda being posted.

Note: Postage cost excludes the cost of the 1157 envelopes used.  

6.1.5 The estimated officer time and cost is 260 hours or £4005 (this is calculated 
using an on cost of £30k per annum, with the provision that an officer can 
collate 10 agendas per hour).  This breaks down into:

 147 hours or £2263 for Members agendas.
 33 hours or £503 for Officers agendas.
 39 hours or £605 for Members agendas.
 41 hours or £634 for Statutory purposes (e.g. access to information files 

reception notice boards and external recipients).

Page 19



Page 4

6.2 Survey Results.

6.2.1 Across the period the survey was live for members to complete, 30 out of 37 provided responses.

6.2.2 Across the period the survey was live for officers to complete, 17 out of 24 provided responses.

6.2.3 Not all questions asked were directly related to printing of agendas, therefore a summary of the responses is shown below.  A full copy of 
the results can be found in the appendix of this report. 

6.2.4 Question 1 – How often do you use the Mod.Gov application to view committee agendas? 

Member responses:

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

10.0% 3
70.0% 21
20.0% 6

30
0

Don't use Mod.gov

All agendas

sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Answe r Op tio ns

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Some agendas

Officer responses:

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

11.8% 2
47.1% 8
11.8% 5
11.8% 2

17
0sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Don't use Mod.gov

All agendas

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Answe r Op tio ns

Do not attend committee meetings

Some agendas

6.2.5 Question 2 – Do you feel that more training is required on the Mod.Gov application before you can use it to read agendas?

Member responses:

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

34.5% 10
48.3% 14
17.2% 5

29
1sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

No

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Yes

Not sure

Answe r Op tio ns

Officer responses:

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

53.3% 8
20.0% 3
26.7% 4

15
2sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

No

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Yes

N/A

Answe r Op tio ns

P
age 20



Page 5

6.2.6 Question 3 – Do you collect your agendas or have them posted?

Member responses:

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

27.6% 8
65.5% 19
6.9% 2

29
1sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Posted

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Collect

N/A - (Access everything online)

Answe r Op tio ns

Officer responses:

Officers were not asked this question, therefore no comparison 
available.

6.2.7 Question 4 – Individual Committees:

6.2.7.1 Are you a member of or do you attend this committee?

Member responses:

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

9 13 22
9 12 21
25 1 26
5 15 20
10 10 20
10 10 20
13 10 23

Answe r Op tio ns

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Officer responses:

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

6 8 14
5 9 14
5 9 14
3 10 13
7 7 14
7 7 14
1 13 14

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Cabinet

Full Council
Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Licensing Committees (any)

Answe r Op tio ns

6.2.7.2 Use Mod.Gov to view agendas?

Member responses:

All the  time Occa s io na lly No t a t a ll
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

4 9 4 17
1 7 10 18
2 14 9 25
0 7 7 14
1 10 6 17
1 9 5 15
1 14 4 19

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Answe r Op tio ns

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Officer responses:

All the  time Occa s io na lly No t a t a ll
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

4 4 1 9
3 2 4 9
3 3 2 8
2 2 5 9
3 2 3 8
3 2 3 8
2 1 3 6

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Answe r Op tio ns

Cabinet

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Licensing Committees (any)

P
age 21



Page 6

6.2.7.3 Do you receive a printed copy of the agenda?

Member responses:

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

12 9 21
9 10 19
25 1 26
6 10 16
10 5 15
11 4 15
21 0 21

Answe r Op tio ns

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Officer responses:

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

4 6 10
3 7 10
4 5 9
3 7 10
4 6 10
4 6 10
1 7 8

Cabinet

Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Answe r Op tio ns

Licensing Committees (any)

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

6.2.7.4 Happy to receive agendas electronically?

Member responses:

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

12 6 18
12 7 19
10 15 25
10 5 15
12 6 18
11 5 16
11 11 22

Licensing Committees (any)
Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

Planning

Answe r Op tio ns

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Officer responses:

Ye s No
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

8 0 8
9 0 9
7 0 7
8 0 8
7 0 7
7 0 7
5 0 5

Governance & Audit

Policy Development Panel

Cabinet

Planning

Answe r Op tio ns

Licensing Committees (any)
Full Council

Performance Monitoring Panel

6.2.8 Question 5 – Digital Transformation (Officers were not asked this question, therefore no comparison available):

Stro ng ly  
Ag re e

Ag re e No  Vie w Disa g re e
Stro ng ly  

D isa g re e
Re sp o nse  

Co unt

9 16 2 2 0 29
10 18 1 0 0 29
8 17 2 2 0 29

29
1sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

The Council is correct in providing more electronic 

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

As a member I fully understand the council's 

As a member I fully understand that the Council should 

Answe r Op tio ns

P
age 22



Page 7

6.2.9 Question 6 – Statements on Printing and Postage:

Members responses:
Stro ng ly  

Ag re e
Ag re e No  Vie w Disa g re e

Stro ng ly  
D isa g re e

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

9 14 3 2 1 29

5 14 4 3 2 28

11 12 2 4 0 29

12 9 2 4 2 29

6 14 5 3 0 28

5 14 2 6 0 27

29
1sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Answe r Op tio ns

Mod.Gov application is an easy way to view 
agendas?

Recipients who want agendas posted should have 
these sent 2nd class?

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Printing spare copies of agendas Democratic 
Services should stop printing spare copies of 
agendas for members of officers immediately?

Recipients should Opt-in to having agendas printed 
and posted for them?

Pad screen size is suitable for reading agendas?

Printing copies of the Planning agenda for members 
who are not on the committee should stop 
immediately?

Officers responses:
Stro ng ly  

Ag re e
Ag re e No  Vie w Disa g re e

Stro ng ly  
D isa g re e

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

10 3 0 1 1 15

10 2 1 1 1 15

14 0 0 1 0 15

11 1 1 2 0 15

5 6 1 2 0 14

6 4 1 1 3 15

15
2

Printing copies of the Planning agenda for members 
who are not on the committee should stop immediately

sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Answe r Op tio ns

Mod.Gov application is an easy way to view agendas

Members who want agendas posted should have 
these sent 2nd class

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Democratic Services should stop printing spare 
copies of agendas for members of officers 
immediately

Recipients should opt-in to having agendas printed 
(and posted where applicable) for them

Your device screen size is suitable for reading 
agendas

P
age 23



Page 8

7. Conclusions and Recommendations.

7.1 Conclusions Reached:

 That a significant amount of officer time is spent printing/collating agendas 
for members/officers and posting agendas to members.  Any reduction in 
officer time spent on this task would increase the amount of time available 
supporting members.

 That savings could be made on printing costs by asking members to opt-in 
(rather than opt-out) of printing.

 That small savings could be made on postage costs by sending any 
printed agendas by 2nd class mail.

 Some committees lead themselves towards having printed agendas (e.g. 
those containing finance reports).

 Agendas largely containing simple text can be viewed easily via the 
Mod.Gov application.

 That electronic devices should be used more effectively to view agendas, 
but with the expectation that ICT equipment and services available to 
members remains reliable.

 A majority of members surveyed were happy to receive agendas 
electronically with the exception of Full Council.

 As the council makes more of its services available online and encourages 
residents to use these more efficient services, offices and members should 
be leading by example and creating a paperless environment.

7.2 The task group reached the following recommendations, these were all 
supported by the finding of both the officers and members’ surveys by a 
clear majority.

7.2.1 Non-cash:

 That further training should be provided to members and officers on the 
use of Mod.Gov application to review and annotate agendas.

7.2.2 Cash:

 That meeting rooms 1 and 2 plus the Council Chamber should have fixed 
projectors or display equipment installed, and that use of these becomes 
commonplace within ALL meetings.

 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. 
Microsoft Lync) to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share 
information or video conference between their devices.

 That where possible officers should produce reports (containing items 
other than text) capable of being printed in black and white (rather than 
colour) to further reduce printing costs.

 From 1st May 2017:
o Recipients should opt-in to receive paper copies of agendas.
o Any agendas being posted are sent 2nd Class.

Page 24



Page 9

o Planning agendas are not automatically printed for those not on the 
committee.

o Democratic Services no longer produce spare copies of agendas 
for members use or copies for officer’s use.

o Full Council agenda is reduced in size by including electronic links 
to Committee Minutes.

8. Financial Implications of Recommendations.

8.1 Cost:

Notes Cost
Display Equipment for MR1 

and MR2
Circa £10k (final cost would depend on 

requirements of members/officers)
Projector for Council Chamber Costs included within the £56.8k budget to 

upgrade Council Chamber equipment (officer 
decision 4.15)

Deploy collaboration software 
to Officer and Member devices

Costs should be built into the ICT Refresh 
project.

8.2 Potential Savings Per Year:

Item Consumables Postage Officer Time 
(hours)

Recipients opt-in to receiving 
agendas printed and posted
(25% to 75%)

£309 to £927 £346 to 
£1040

45 to 135

Sending posted agendas by 
second class.

n/a £225 n/a

Not automatically printing 
planning agendas for ALL 
members.

£87 £267 24

Stop printing spare copies of 
agendas for members

£171 £0 39

Stop printing copies of agendas 
for officers

£153 £0 32

Notes: 

 The savings shown are calculated from the actual printing/postage costs 
shown in section 6 of this report.

 It is not possible to estimate the savings for removing the printed pages of 
other Committee Minutes.

Page 25



Page 10

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the review.

9.1 The main sources of information were provided by the departments referred to in 
paragraph 5.

10.Abbreviations.

Abbreviation Description
MFD Multi-Function Device (e.g. 

Photocopier)
CPBS Compass Point Business Services

Page 26



Page 11

Appendices.

A1. Summary of agendas produced – October 2015 to September 2016:

A1.1 Members:

Total Agendas 
Printed

Cost 
Consumables

Total Agendas 
Posted

Cost Postage
Estimated 

Officer Hours 
per Year

Estimated 
Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 105 £67.89 56 £72.16 10.50 £161.54
Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 60 £17.11 40 £41.40 6.00 £92.31
Full Council 9 1392 333 £319.32 243 £377.46 33.30 £512.31
Governance and Audit 7 830 42 £30.88 28 £41.84 4.20 £64.62
Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 125 £62.31 105 £129.15 12.50 £192.31
Licensing Committee 4 26 60 £2.42 40 £31.60 6.00 £92.31
Licensing Panel 2 20 6 £0.37 6 £4.74 0.60 £9.23
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 36 £13.99 36 £41.46 3.60 £55.38
Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 60 £20.27 52 £57.20 6.00 £92.31
Planning 11 640 407 £146.82 352 £388.80 40.70 £626.15
Policy Development Panel 5 228 80 £22.62 70 £72.66 8.00 £123.08
South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 24 £7.59 20 £20.70 2.40 £36.92
Spalding Town Forum 4 28 44 £1.91 24 £18.96 4.40 £67.69
Standards Panel 2 8 12 £0.30 8 £6.32 1.20 £18.46
Strategy Board 7 368 77 £25.10 77 £82.39 7.70 £118.46

Totals 87 6030 1471 £738.89 1157 £1,386.84 147.10 £2,263.08

Committee

Members

Total Pages per 
Committee

Total Committee
Meetings

P
age 27



Page 12

A1.2 Officers:

Total Agendas 
Printed

Cost 
Consumables

Estimated 
Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 
Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 28 £18.10 2.8 £43.08
Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 20 £5.70 2 £30.77
Full Council 9 1392 54 £51.78 5.4 £83.08
Governance and Audit 7 830 21 £15.44 2.1 £32.31
Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 10 £4.98 1 £15.38
Licensing Committee 4 26 20 £0.81 2 £30.77
Licensing Panel 2 20 8 £0.50 0.8 £12.31
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 48 £18.65 4.8 £73.85
Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 12 £4.05 1.2 £18.46
Planning 11 640 55 £19.84 5.5 £84.62
Policy Development Panel 5 228 15 £4.24 1.5 £23.08
South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 0 £0.00 0 £0.00
Spalding Town Forum 4 28 0 £0.00 0 £0.00
Standards Panel 2 8 8 £0.20 0.8 £12.31
Strategy Board 7 368 28 £9.13 2.8 £43.08

Totals 87 6030 327 £153.43 32.70 £503.08

Committee
Total Pages per 

Committee
Total Committee

Meetings

Officers

P
age 28



Page 13

A1.3 Clerk (e.g. spare copies for Members):

Total Agendas 
Printed

Cost 
Consumables

Estimated 
Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 
Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 35 £22.63 3.50 £53.85
Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 16 £4.56 1.60 £24.62
Full Council 9 1392 45 £43.15 4.50 £69.23
Governance and Audit 7 830 28 £20.58 2.80 £43.08
Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 20 £9.97 2.00 £30.77
Licensing Committee 4 26 16 £0.64 1.60 £24.62
Licensing Panel 2 20 10 £0.62 1.00 £15.38
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 60 £23.31 6.00 £92.31
Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 16 £5.41 1.60 £24.62
Planning 11 640 55 £19.84 5.50 £84.62
Policy Development Panel 5 228 20 £5.65 2.00 £30.77
South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 16 £5.06 1.60 £24.62
Spalding Town Forum 4 28 20 £0.87 2.00 £30.77
Standards Panel 2 8 8 £0.20 0.80 £12.31
Strategy Board 7 368 28 £9.13 2.80 £43.08

Totals 87 6030 393 £171.63 39.30 £604.62

Clerks

Committee
Total Pages per 

Committee
Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 29



Page 14

A1.4 Statutory/External:

Total Agendas 
Printed

Cost 
Consumables

Estimated 
Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 
Officer Cost per 

Year

Cabinet 7 730 28 £18.10 2.8 £43.08
Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 16 £4.56 1.6 £24.62
Full Council 9 1392 36 £34.52 3.6 £55.38
Governance and Audit 7 830 28 £20.58 2.8 £43.08
Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 20 £9.97 2 £30.77
Licensing Committee 4 26 16 £0.64 1.6 £24.62
Licensing Panel 2 20 14 £0.87 1.4 £21.54
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 120 £46.62 12 £184.62
Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 16 £5.41 1.6 £24.62
Planning 11 640 44 £15.87 4.4 £67.69
Policy Development Panel 5 228 20 £5.65 2 £30.77
South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 16 £5.06 1.6 £24.62
Spalding Town Forum 4 28 16 £0.69 1.6 £24.62
Standards Panel 2 8 8 £0.20 0.8 £12.31
Strategy Board 7 368 14 £4.56 1.4 £21.54

Totals 87 6030 412 £173.33 41.2 £633.85

Statutory / External

Committee
Total Pages per 

Committee
Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 30



Page 15

A1.5 Summary:

Total Agendas 
Printed

Total Agenda 
Pages Printed 

(per Committee)

Total 
Consumables 
Cost for Year 

(per Committee)

Estimated 
Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 
Officer Cost per 

Year

Estimated 
Postage Cost

Cabinet 7 730 196 730 £126.73 19.60 £301.54 £72.16 £520.03
Committee of the Licensing Authority 4 184 112 184 £31.94 11.20 £172.31 £41.40 £256.85
Full Council 9 1392 468 1392 £448.78 46.80 £720.00 £377.46 £1,593.04
Governance and Audit 7 830 119 830 £87.48 11.90 £183.08 £41.84 £324.30
Joint PMP/PDP 5 402 175 402 £87.23 17.50 £269.23 £129.15 £503.11
Licensing Committee 4 26 112 26 £4.51 11.20 £172.31 £31.60 £219.62
Licensing Panel 2 20 38 20 £2.36 3.80 £58.46 £4.74 £69.36
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 12 752 264 752 £102.57 26.40 £406.15 £41.46 £576.59
Performance Monitoring Panel 4 218 104 218 £35.14 10.40 £160.00 £57.20 £262.74
Planning 11 640 561 640 £202.37 56.10 £863.08 £388.80 £1,510.34
Policy Development Panel 5 228 135 228 £38.17 13.50 £207.69 £72.66 £332.02
South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 4 204 56 204 £17.71 5.60 £86.15 £20.70 £130.16
Spalding Town Forum 4 28 80 28 £3.47 8.00 £123.08 £18.96 £153.51
Standards Panel 2 8 36 8 £0.89 3.60 £55.38 £6.32 £66.20
Strategy Board 7 368 147 368 £47.91 14.70 £226.15 £82.39 £371.16

Totals 87 6030 2603 6030 £1,237.27 260.30 £4,004.62 £1,386.84 £6,889.03

Summary

Total CostCommittee
Total Pages per 

Committee
Total Committee

Meetings

P
age 31



Page 16

A2 Summary of agenda distribution:

Committee Members Posted Officers Clerk Access to 
Info files

Reception Agenda - 
notice board

External Total

Cabinet 15 8 4 5 2 1 1 0 28
Committee of the Licensing Authority 15 10 5 4 2 1 1 0 28
Full Council 37 27 6 5 2 1 1 0 52
Governance and Audit 6 4 3 4 2 1 1 0 17
Joint PMP/PDP 25 21 2 4 2 1 1 0 35
Licensing Committee 15 10 5 4 2 1 1 0 28
Licensing Panel 3 3 4 5 2 1 1 3 19
Panel of the Committee of the Licensing Authority 3 3 4 5 2 1 1 6 22
Performance Monitoring Panel 15 13 3 4 2 1 1 0 26
Planning 37 32 5 5 2 1 1 0 51
Policy Development Panel 16 14 3 4 2 1 1 0 27
South East Lincolnshire JSP Committee 6 5 0 4 2 1 1 0 14
Spalding Town Forum 11 6 0 5 2 1 1 0 20
Standards Panel 6 4 4 4 2 1 1 0 18
Strategy Board 11 11 4 4 2 0 0 0 21

221 171 52 66 30 14 14 9 406

P
age 32



Page 17

A3 Member Survey Comments.

iPad screen viewing of an agenda with more than 30 pages is not acceptable to me. I always make notes on paper
agendas and will continue to do so.

I believe all agendas should be put into the members draw in the members room and not posted.

If we progress towards the electronic route, the main committee rooms and chamber should have fixed projectors
installed in each location. Using a projector as part of the running of a meeting should become commonplace. For
the planning agenda to progress down the electronic route, the agenda sheet needs to have the address details
shown in addition to the planning system reference. iPad screens whilst small are suitable for reading agendas that
are predominantly text, but for reports that contain graphical style reports or budget information I find that difficult.
When members devices are refreshed larger screens should be considered.

Occasionally it is good to see the view bigger, such as for plans, but these could be printed out individually if
necessary.

Get on with it. people will adapt quickly if have to. Some people will moan. They did when we stopped using quill,
chalk & slates.

There is a need to ensure Members do not become less informed due to the transition.

2nd class postage would require the officers to prepare the agendas in a timely fashion.
Stopped using mod.com unable to recall passwords etc.

The questions are somewhat leading therefore aimed just at providing the answers required by the task group
rather than the actual true opinion at times - and disregards the methods that residents may opt for as a preference
of postage Re the agendas being sent 2nd class- sometimes there is barely enough time for the agendas to be
read at the moment as sometimes late receiving them

Whereas I fully support the access to agendas via mod.gov, there will always be times when hard copy of
complicated documents will be necessary. Consideration should be given to an individual call off in such cases.

P
age 33



Page 18

Training and encouragement should be considered to the printing facility in the members' room to support this view
to reduce officer time in such cases.

Some supplements and Appendices to Agendas can be difficult to view electronically, due to the orientation of the
layout, so may have to be issued separately (in Member's drawer), for large agendas such as Full Council and
Governance & Audit.

Planning agendas for ward members not on committee should ONLY cover those particular applications. I agreed
to collect my agenda even though I am one of the remotest members.

Some questions are too black and white, as no doubt was the intention. For casual glancing through an agenda, an
iPad is ideal, especially if you are not a member of that particular committee, panel. However, I remain concerned
that the slant of these particular questions, is the start of a process that could lead to the removal of paper copies
of every agenda. In respect of planning and licensing, and especially planning, I can see no opportunity to make
members comfortable with an iPad based agenda being used to make what can often be very important decisions
with far reaching implications. These decisions have an impact well beyond the bounds of the council and in many
cases, are impossible to reverse. As a minimum, within the chamber, the viewing medium would have to be much
improved and offer the committee members the opportunity to easily view more than one page at a time, something
not suited to an iPad screen. Images projected as part of the presentation are currently poor and these too would
need to be vastly improved, with easy access to the online background paperwork potentially needed. All these
requirements would need to balanced against the projected savings in printing and postage. My concerns are
similar when it comes to the cabinet agendas in respect of cabinet members and their decision making
responsibilities. There is certainly scope for the immediate introduction of a hybrid system, whereby elements of any
agenda are only made available electronically. Far too many annexes and supplementary pages are included with
core reports as background papers, often unnecessarily in paper form, even if they do have to be titled and
referenced. The most recent full council agenda is a perfect example of this, with its referred from cabinet report
about a municipal bonds agency. 9+ cabinet agendas, became 37+ full council agendas, with a report containing
an annex of 60+ pages. I think you get my point mini rant over ;-)

P
age 34



Page 19

A4 Officer Survey Comments.

I tend to use Mod.Gov to submit reports rather then to view them routinely. I normally only print for internal
meetings where I need to make notes as it's sometimes hard to keep up trying to make notes on the laptop,
although I'm getting better at this.

Need to understand how you would view large excel documents etc.

My view is that, so long as the kit works properly and agenda papers are also projected, we should go all
electronic. I have indicate that we should not send agendas second class and should not stop printing spares. this
is because, if some members really cannot get on with electronic versions, then we should not disadvantage them
by slowing down the delivery - and we should have a very small number of spare hard copies - say 3.

If we are to encourage residents (and members) to move to digital means we need to be leading by example. The
money saved by the reduction in paper and postage should be reinvested in better AV equipment to allow all
meetings to be paperless.

Officers other than EMT members who have I-pads are not provided the tools to access committee reports
electronically. Democratic services need to significantly improve the training they provide on mod.gov.

I no longer print agendas or papers for meetings. I take my laptop to all meetings and use MS OneNote to record
all my notes. I find this to be extremely useful and haven't used a paper notebook for meetings since.

Frequent drop-outs and intermittent Wi-Fi access within the building and also in external venue is only mitigated
through taking paper copy. Until this is improved it is very difficult to ditch the paper! Reliability of surface pro and
small screen size do not help when staring down at such a device for a long period during a meeting.

Inability to make own notes on electronic agenda papers is severely limiting. An appropriate device would be
hugely beneficial.

People's individual needs from an equalities perspective should be considered rather than a blanket ban.

P
age 35



Page 20

P
age 36



E

South Holland District Council 

Review of 

Printing and Postage of External Items

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                     

13th February 2017

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Scope of the Review

3. Membership of Task Group

4. Background to Review

5. Method of Review

6. Summary of Findings

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

8. Financial implications of recommendations

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review

10. Abbreviations

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



Page 1

1. Introduction.

1.1 South Holland District Council is undergoing significant change through the 
commissioning of a Moving Forward (Transformation) Programme.  This is 
looking at all aspects of the Authority to identify ways of becoming more efficient.

1.2 A considerable amount of resources is spent each year distributing electoral 
registration letters, council tax and business rate bills.

1.3 The South Holland Centre produces a significant amount of printed material to 
promote activities at the centre.

2. Scope of the Review.

2.1 The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as:

 To review the use of printed materials produced by the South Holland 
Centre.

 To review the use of printed materials produced in relation to electoral 
information, council tax and business rates.

 To make recommendations for reduction in use of printed materials.

The Task Group also looked at Committee Reports/other internal printed 
material, but these are considered in separate reports.

3. Membership of Task Group.

3.1 The task group comprised of Councillors J Astill (Chairman), H Drury, M Pullen 
and A Woolf.  The lead officer was Andy Prior and the Task Group was 
supported by Democratic Services.

3.2 Councillor J McLean withdrew from the task group and was replaced by 
Councillor M Pullen.

4. Background to Review.

4.1 The review was conducted following a request from the Moving Forward 
(Transformation) Programme review of the way printed material is used to 
communicate with residents. 

5. Method of Review.

5.1 The Task Group met several times between 24th October 2016 and 6th February 
to consider the printing of agenda packs.

5.2 Information was sourced from:

 Compass Point Business Services in relation to council tax and business 
rates.

 Democratic Services in relation to electoral information.

Page 41



Page 2

 South Holland Centre Manager and Andy Prior in relation to the South 
Holland Centre.

5.3 The Task Group also investigated the current provision for viewing council tax 
and business rate bills online and the potential for e-billing in the future. 

6. Summary of Findings.

6.1 Electoral Information.

6.1.1 As the distribution of information relating to elections is heavily legislated, the 
Task Group has de-scoped this from our investigations.

6.2 Council Tax.

6.2.1 There are 40016 live accounts registered on Compass Point systems.
 

6.2.2 The payment method for these accounts are:

 26303 (65.73%) who make payment via direct debit.
 13713 (34.27%) who make payment via cash or cheque.

6.2.3 The bills are generated electronically by Compass Point, but sent to an 3rd 
party organisation for printing and posting, the cost of this is £20000.

6.3 Business Rates.

6.3.1 There are 2709 live accounts registered on Compass Point systems.
 

6.3.2 The payment method for these accounts are:

 1079 (39.83%) who make payment via direct debit.
 1630 (60.17%) who make payment via cash, cheque or online.

6.3.3 The bills are generated electronically by Compass Point, but sent to an 3rd 
party organisation for printing and posting, the cost of this is £894.

6.4 Viewing Council Tax Bills Online.

6.4.1 Members of the task group found they could:

 Register an online account via the ecitizen.sholland.gov.uk service.
 Request their council tax account be included within their online account 

(provided they could answer additional qualification questions).
 Register for e-billing (provided the above step had been completed).

 
6.4.2 Members of the Task Group found they could not register their Council Tax 

account if they didn’t qualify to be asked the additional security questions.

Page 42



Page 3

6.5 South Holland Centre.

6.5.1 On target to save 10% from each of 16/17 and 17/18 budgets.

6.5.2 Residents are encouraged to sign up to electronic mailing, but there is no 
option to remove them from the print list.

6.5.3 Digital marketing accounts are currently circa 50% of the total marketing 
database.  Approximately 2500 on separate digital marketing list, potential 
duplication with email addresses held for other purposes.

6.5.4 Administration of room hire now done via email as bookers are using the 
“application to hire” and “Ticket Agency” forms from the website.

6.5.5 Online booking of tickets costs £1.50 per order (which covers cost of booking 
system and postage at 1st class).

6.5.6 Unique monthly website hits increasing from average of 6765 (Oct to Dec 
2015) to 8010 (Oct to Dec 2016).

6.5.7 Average monthly e-newsletters sent to customers 2269 times (Jul to Dec 
2016), with an average open rate of 41% for the same period.  Note the 
industry average open rate for e-marketing is 23%.

6.5.8 Online ticket sales steadily increasing from 12% in 2014/2015 to 17% in 
2016/2017, with value of income from online sales increasing from 14% to 
22% for the same period.

6.5.9 What’s On Live Guide – Produced 3 times a year.

 Total production down from 11000 in Spring 2013 to 7500 in Spring 2017.
 Issued by post to 6205 residents in Spring 2013 to 3893 in Spring 2017.

6.5.10 Film Guide – Produced 4 times a year.

 Total production down from 9000 in April 2013 to 6700 in February 2017.
 Issued by post to 5295 in April 2013 down to 3893 in January 2017.
 Cost of production largely covered by sponsorship from Broadgate 

Builders.

6.5.11 Correspondence Sent to Previous Customers (not booked in 2 years) asking if 
they wish to remain on mailing list:

Year No Letters Sent No Responses Customers 
Removed

2013 1149 0 1149
2014 1113 18 1095
2015 1125 213 912
2016 1404 281 1123

Page 43



Page 4

7. Conclusions and Recommendations.

7.1 Conclusions Reached:

7.1.1 Council Tax / Business Rates:

 The current e-citizen service is clunky:
o The signup process only works for users who are directed down the 

additional security question route.
o The user ID field can contain capital letters, which can lead to 

issues during the logon and password reset processes.
o If you attempt to reset a password for a user who does not exist, the 

system still attempts to validate account by asking security 
questions.

o Where multiple adults are liable for Council Tax (i.e. named on the 
bill) the e-billing process does not cope

 That significant savings could be made in the production of paper bills.

7.1.2 South Holland Centre:

 The return rate on of customers indicating they wish to remain on mailing 
list is low (11%).

 The current online booking facility has limited functionality in terms of 
account management, and does not work properly on Apple products (e.g. 
seat map does not display on iPad or iPhone).

7.2 The task group reached the following recommendations:

7.2.1 Non-cash:

 That South Holland District Council actively pursues an online/paperless 
approach for council tax and business rate bills.

7.2.2 Cash:

 Further investigation is required on how the eCitizen service can be 
configured to provide a more positive user experience.

 Further integration is required between the My Council and eCitizen 
service to provide a single customer logon.

 That the South Holland Centre investigate implementing an up to date 
online booking system that offers better reporting/customer management 
and works across all types of web browser or device.

8. Financial Implications of Recommendations.

8.1 Cost:

 At the time of compiling this report the costs for improving the current 
eCitizen service or new South Holland Centre online booking system were 
not known.

Page 44



Page 5

8.2 Potential Savings Per Year:

8.2.1 Council Tax / Business Rates.

Item 25% 50% 75%
Reduction in C/TAX bill printing 
and distribution cost for those 
Direct Debit customers signing 
up for e-billing.

£3250 £6500 £9750

Reduction in B/RATES bill 
printing and distribution cost for 
those Direct Debit businesses 
signing up for e-billing.

£87 £174 £261

Note: The savings shown are the percentage of the total cost of bill printing and 
distribution, apportioned to those who pay by direct debit:

 Council Tax: 65% of residents pay by DD, this relates to £13000 of the 
total production cost of £20000.

 Business Rates: 39% of businesses pay by DD, this relates to £348 of the 
total production cost of £894.

8.2.2 South Holland Centre.

 Across the period 2013 to 2016, an average of 1197 letters were posted to 
residents, this translates into estimated savings of:

o Consumables and Paper (£0.009 per letter): £11.
o 2nd Class postage (£0.37 per item): £443.

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the review.

9.1 The main sources of information were provided by the departments referred to in 
paragraph 5.

10.Abbreviations.

Abbreviation Description
CPBS Compass Point Business Services
C/TAX Council Tax
B/RATES Business Rates

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



South Holland District Council 

Review of 

Printing of Officer Agenda Packs

An Overview and Scrutiny Review undertaken by the Reduction of Paper and 
Postage Task Group on behalf of Policy Development Panel                                     

13th February 2017

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



Contents 

1. Introduction

2. Scope of the Review

3. Membership of Task Group

4. Background to Review

5. Method of Review

6. Summary of Findings

7. Conclusions and Recommendations

8. Financial implications of recommendations

9. Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the Review

10. Abbreviations

Appendices

A1. Summary of Agendas Produced – October 2015 to September 2016.

A2. Summary of Agenda Distribution.

A3. Officers Survey Comments.

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Page 1

1. Introduction.

1.1 South Holland District Council is undergoing significant change through the 
commissioning of a Moving Forward (Transformation) Programme.  This is 
looking at all aspects of the Authority to identify ways of becoming more efficient.

1.2 A considerable amount of resources is spent each year distributing internal 
meeting agendas to Members and Officers.  This breaks down into:

 Paper cost.
 Consumables cost, including rental of devices and per page copy charge.
 Executive Assistants time, to print, collate and distribute agendas.

2. Scope of the Review.

2.1 The scope and therefore terms of reference were defined as:

 To review the use of printed materials and postage regarding committee 
agendas.

 To formulate a member policy.
 To make recommendations for an officer policy.

The Task Group also looked at Committee Agendas/external printed material, but 
these are considered in separate reports.

3. Membership of Task Group.

3.1 The task group comprised of Councillors J Astill (Chairman), H Drury, M Pullen 
and A Woolf. 

3.2 Councillor J McLean withdrew from the task group and was replaced by 
Councillor M Pullen.

3.3 The lead officer was Andy Prior and the Task Group was supported by 
Democratic Services.  The Task Group would like to thank all Executive 
Assistants for the initial work in collating details of agendas produced.

4. Background to Review.

4.1 The review was conducted following a request from the Moving Forward 
(Transformation) Programme requesting a review of the way Officers/Members 
receive internal meeting agenda packs, with a view to making potential savings.

5. Method of Review.

5.1 The Task Group met several times between 24th October 2016 and 9th February 
to consider the printing of agenda packs.

Page 51



Page 2

5.2 Information was sourced from agendas printed between October 2015 and 
September 2016 for the following meetings:

 EMT
 Place Portfolio Briefing
 Strategy and Governance Portfolio Briefing
 Commercialisation Portfolio Briefing
 Performance Board
 Welland Homes Board
 Transformation Board
 Finance Board
 Strategy and Governance Team Meeting
 Place Team Meeting
 Commercialisation Team Meeting

Note: At the time of writing this report, we did not have a full set of source data 
for those meetings shown above shown in Bold Text and Underlined.

5.3 For each agenda pack produced, the following was collated:

 The number of pages printed per agenda for the specified period.
 The distribution for each agenda.

5.4 Compass Point Business Services provided:

 The average cost of rental of MFDs along with the cost per printing each 
page.

5.5 Officers to be surveyed across several questions associated with their use of 
mod.gov and how they receive agendas. 

6. Summary of Findings.

6.1 Printing and Postage.

6.1.1 The task group identified that across the period of October 2015 and 
September 2016 for the 11 meetings, there were:

 72 individual meetings.
 832 agendas printed.

6.1.2 The figures above translate to the following A4 paper usage:

 16884 sheets (printed as duplex so using both sides).
 33.7 reams.
 6.75 boxes.

6.1.3 The estimated total cost of consumables (e.g. paper and printing costs) was 
£223.

Page 52



Page 3

Note the total for printing and postage excludes quarterly rentals of £25 for the 
MFDs in use.

6.1.4 The estimated officer time and cost is 55 hours or £711 (this is calculated 
using an on cost of £30k per annum, with the provision that an officer can 
print and collate 15 agendas per hour).

6.2 Survey Results.

6.2.1 Across the period the survey was live for officers to complete, 17 out of 24 
provided responses.

6.2.2 Not all questions asked were directly related to printing of internal meeting 
agendas, therefore a summary of the responses is shown below.  

6.2.3 Question 6 – What device do you use to?

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

57.1% 8
21.4% 3
21.4% 3

14
3sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Surface Pro

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Laptop

I Pad

Answe r Op tio ns

6.2.4 Question 6 - For internal non-committee meetings (e.g. EMT, Strategy & 
Governance etc) please select the option that best describes you?

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

46.7% 7
46.7% 7
6.7% 1

15
2sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

View some of the agendas electronically and print 

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Only view electronic copies of agendas

Have printed copies of all agendas

Answe r Op tio ns

6.2.5 Question 7 - What prevents you viewing internal meeting agendas 
electronically? (multiple answers allowed)?

Re sp o nse  
Pe rce nt

Re sp o nse  
Co unt

62.5% 5
50.0% 4
75.0% 6

8
9sk ip p e d  q ue stio n

Agenda not projected to screen during meeting

a nswe re d  q ue stio n

Limitations of personal ICT kit

Easier to view paper copy

Answe r Op tio ns

Page 53



Page 4

7. Conclusions and Recommendations.

7.1 Conclusions Reached:

 That a significant amount of officer time is spent printing/collating agendas 
for internal meetings.  Any reduction in officer time spent on this task 
would increase the amount of time available supporting officers.

 That the figures in section 6 are much lower than they should be, as some 
data on individual agendas was not available at the time the report was 
compiled.

 That savings could be made on printing costs by asking officers to opt-in 
(rather than opt-out) of printing.

 That electronic devices should be used more effectively to view agendas.
 As the council makes more of its services available online and encourages 

residents to use these more efficient services, offices should be leading by 
example and creating a paperless environment.

 There is clearly a willingness from most officers to ‘go paperless’ however 
there is still a strong culture to print most documents

 Meeting room configuration, ICT equipment and insufficient training are 
considered barriers to ‘going paperless’ 

 A prompt move to paperless or paper light may be required by the Priory 
Road project

7.2 The task group reached the following recommendations.

7.2.1 Non-cash:

 That Portfolio Holders and Senior Managers encourage ALL areas under 
their control to move to a paperless agenda.

7.2.2 Cash:

 That internal meeting rooms should have fixed projectors or display 
equipment installed, and that use of these becomes commonplace within 
ALL meetings.

 That a selection of internal meeting rooms have video conferencing 
equipment capable of connecting to external locations, or individuals using 
video/audio capability of their own devices.

 That as part of the ICT Refresh, collaboration software is deployed (e.g. 
Microsoft Lync) to enable individuals in ANY location to be able to share 
information or video conference between their devices.

 From 1st May 2017:
o Recipients should opt-in to receive paper copies of agendas.

Page 54



Page 5

8. Financial Implications of Recommendations.

8.1 Cost:

Notes Cost
Display Equipment for Internal 

Meeting Rooms
Costs should be built into the Priory Road 

refurbishment project.
VC Equipment for Some 
Internal Meeting Rooms

Costs should be built into the Priory Road 
refurbishment and ICT Refresh projects.

Deploy collaboration software 
to Officer and Member devices

Costs should be built into the ICT Refresh 
project.

8.2Potential Savings Per Year:

Item Consumables Officer Time (hours)
Recipients opt-in to receiving 
agendas printed (25% to 75%)

£56 to £167 14 to 41

Notes: 

 The savings shown are calculated from the actual printing costs shown in 
section 6 of this report.

9 Main Sources of Information and individuals contacted during the review.

9.2The main sources of information were provided by the departments referred to in 
paragraph 5.

10 Abbreviations.

Abbreviation Description
MFD Multi-Function Device (e.g. 

Photocopier)
CPBS Compass Point Business Services

Page 55



Page 6

Appendices.

Note: YELLOW HIGHLIGHTS show where either no or partial data was received at the time of compiling this report.

A1. Summary of agendas produced – October 2015 to September 2016:

Total Agendas 
Printed

Total 
Consumables 
Cost for Year 

(per Committee)

Estimated 
Officer Hours 

per Year

Estimated 
Officer Cost per 

Year

EMT 11 1947 121 £141.35 8.07 £103.42 £252.84
Place Portfolio Briefing 8 134 64 £7.08 4.27 £54.70 £66.04
Strategy and Governance Portfolio Briefing 8 131 80 £8.65 5.33 £68.38 £82.36
Commercialisation Portfolio Briefing 1 11 11 £0.80 0.73 £9.40 £10.93
Performance Board 7 113 91 £9.70 6.07 £77.78 £93.54
Welland Homes Board 10 214 140 £19.77 9.33 £119.66 £148.77
Transformation Board 7 556 42 £22.02 2.80 £35.90 £60.72
Finance Board 1 12 9 £0.71 0.60 £7.69 £9.01
Strategy and Governance Team Meeting 12 44 204 £4.94 13.60 £174.36 £192.90
Place Team Meeting 7 119 70 £7.85 4.67 £59.83 £72.35
Commercialisation Team Meeting 0 0 0 £0.00 0.00 £0.00 £0.00

Totals 72 3281 832 £222.86 55.47 £711.11 £989.44

Committee
Total Pages per 

Meeting
Total Internal

Meetings

Summary Internal Meetings

Total Cost

P
age 56



Page 7

A2 Summary of agenda distribution:

Committee Officers Members Other Total

EMT 11 0 0 11
Place Portfolio Briefing 3 5 0 8
Strategy and Governance Portfolio Briefing 6 4 0 10
Commercialisation Portfolio Briefing 7 4 0 11
Performance Board 13 0 0 13
Welland Homes Board 6 8 0 14
Transformation Board 6 0 0 6
Finance Board 9 0 0 9
Strategy and Governance Team Meeting 17 0 0 17
Place Team Meeting 10 0 0 10
Commercialisation Team Meeting 0 0 0 0

88 21 0 109

P
age 57



Page 8

A3 Officer Survey Comments.

I tend to use Mod.Gov to submit reports rather then to view them routinely. I normally only print for internal
meetings where I need to make notes as it's sometimes hard to keep up trying to make notes on the laptop,
although I'm getting better at this.

Need to understand how you would view large excel documents etc.

My view is that, so long as the kit works properly and agenda papers are also projected, we should go all
electronic. I have indicate that we should not send agendas second class and should not stop printing spares. this
is because, if some members really cannot get on with electronic versions, then we should not disadvantage them
by slowing down the delivery - and we should have a very small number of spare hard copies - say 3.

If we are to encourage residents (and members) to move to digital means we need to be leading by example. The
money saved by the reduction in paper and postage should be reinvested in better AV equipment to allow all
meetings to be paperless.

Officers other than EMT members who have I-pads are not provided the tools to access committee reports
electronically. Democratic services need to significantly improve the training they provide on mod.gov.

I no longer print agendas or papers for meetings. I take my laptop to all meetings and use MS OneNote to record
all my notes. I find this to be extremely useful and haven't used a paper notebook for meetings since.

Frequent drop-outs and intermittent Wi-Fi access within the building and also in external venue is only mitigated
through taking paper copy. Until this is improved it is very difficult to ditch the paper! Reliability of surface pro and
small screen size do not help when staring down at such a device for a long period during a meeting.

Inability to make own notes on electronic agenda papers is severely limiting. An appropriate device would be
hugely beneficial.

People's individual needs from an equalities perspective should be considered rather than a blanket ban.

P
age 58



Page 9

P
age 59



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Growth and Commercialisation and Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer)

To: Cabinet – 28th March 2017

(Author: Lucy Buttery – Planning Policy Officer)

Subject: Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan – Plan area designation

Purpose: The purpose of this report is for Members to formally designate the Surfleet 
Neighbourhood Plan area

Recommendation(s): 
 
It is recommended that Members consider the contents of this report and Appendix A and 
endorse Option 1.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1  The Localism Act 2011 introduced the ability for Town and Parish Council’s, along with   
 designated Neighbourhood Forums to prepare Neighbourhood Plans to help promote   
 growth and shape the development of their areas. 

1.2  Neighbourhood Plans have Development Plan status, and their preparation is subject to    
 the provisions of the Localism Act along with the Neighbourhood Planning (General)  
 Regulations 2012. 

1.3  One of the first key stages in the process is for the extent of the Plan area put forward by 
 the community to be designated by the Local Planning Authority. This normally occurs   
 before the plan can begin to be developed, and will set the area within which the policies in 
 the Neighbourhood Plan will apply. 

1.4  Members will be aware that Surfleet Parish Council submitted a proposal for the    
 designation of a Neighbourhood Plan area to the Council on 25th November 2016. 

1.5  This is the first formal application for a Neighbourhood Plan area that the Council has  
 received under the provisions of the Localism Act.

2.0   PROPOSED SURFLEET NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN AREA

 2.1  As indicated in paragraph 1.4 above, the Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan area has been put 
 forward by Surfleet Parish Council. Members are reminded that Parish Councils are a  
 relevant body for the purposes of section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and, as such, their formation does not require any separate designation by the Local      
 Planning Authority. 

2.2  The plan area put forward includes the whole of the parish of Surfleet (see map in  
 Appendix A).

Page 61

Agenda Item 7.



2.3  The submitted statement that accompanied the area application has been considered. The 
 community has expressed a desire to complement the emerging South East Lincolnshire 
 Local Plan with local policies to influence how development takes place, such as through 
 design policies for example. This approach is considered appropriate.

2.4  The 1990 Act requires the Council to consider the desirability of confirming the whole or   
 part of a Parish as a Neighbourhood Plan area. Section 61G (7) of the 1990 Act states that 
 Neighbourhood Plan areas must not overlap. The Neighbourhood Plan area submitted by 
 Surfleet Parish Council is considered appropriate as it will avert potential future issues of 
 overlapping should a proposal be made to designate a Neighbourhood Plan area in an  
 adjacent parish.

2.5  Given that the area is not principally an employment area (in planning terms), there is no 
 indication that the area should be designated as a Business area (as set out in the 1990 
 Act).

2.6  The Council is at the final stage of producing a new single Local Plan document (in  
 conjunction with Boston Borough Council and Lincolnshire County Council) which, once  
 adopted, will replace the current suite of Statutory Development Plan documents. The  
 Council has a duty to support the Neighbourhood Plan process and so will need to work 
 alongside Surfleet Parish Council as it moves through the most critical stage of the Local 
 Plan process. This is due to the fact that the Neighbourhood Plan is required to be in broad 
 conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan, which itself seeks to provide the  
 strategic direction for growth and change in South East Lincolnshire. 

3.0   PUBLICATION OF THE PROPOSED PLAN AREA

3.1  As required by Regulation 6 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, 
 the Council has publicised the application to designate the Neighbourhood Plan area for a 
 six week period which closed on 3rd March. A formal notice was placed in the local press  
 (the Spalding Voice), as well as on the Council’s website advising of the publication period 
 and how to make responses. However, Members are reminded that the wider publication 
 and consultation on the Neighbourhood Plan will be the responsibility of the Parish Council 
 as it moves forward.

3.2  The publication period elicited one response from a resident of Surfleet. However, this  
 representation did not relate to the submitted Plan area itself, rather it was concerned with 
 future aspirations for the area. It is therefore considered that the response does not affect 
 the extent of the Neighbourhood Plan area proposed, and the comments have been  
 forwarded to the Parish Council to help them develop the Plan. After designation of the  
 plan area, the Council is required by Regulation 7 of the Neighbourhood Planning  
 Regulations to publicise this fact and this will be carried out in the same manner as per the 
 previous consultation.

4.0 OPTIONS

4.1 There are two options open to Members, which are as follows:

 Option 1 – Cabinet considers the content of this report and confirms the 
Neighbourhood Plan area as submitted by Surfleet Parish Council as set out in 
Appendix A of this report.

 Option 2 – Do nothing. 

Page 62



5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

5.1 It is recommended that Cabinet endorses Option 1 above. As highlighted within the report, 
 it is considered that no issues were raised during the prescribed consultation period that 
 should affect the confirmation of the Neighbourhood Plan area. 

5.2        The alternative option to ‘do nothing’ would prevent the Neighbourhood Plan from   
moving forward.

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

6.1 The expected benefits of confirming the Plan area is to enable the community to move 
forward with the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Constitution & Legal

7.1.2 The designation of Neighbourhood Plans is in accordance with the Neighbourhood 
Planning (General) Regulations 2012, as well as the provisions of the Localism Act 2011.

7.2 Corporate Priorities

7.2.1 Confirmation of the Plan area, thereby facilitating the advancement of the Neighbourhood 
Plan, will help support the Council’s Corporate Priority to “have pride in South Holland by 
supporting the district and residents to develop and thrive”.

7.3 Financial 

7.3.1 There will be a small cost to the Council for the placing of the required press notices upon   
confirmation of the Plan area boundary which is funded through the Local Plan production 
budget.

7.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

7.4.1 The Neighbourhood Plan area boundary was publicised in accordance with Regulation 6 
of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012, which included a notice in 
the local press as well as being placed on the Council’s website.

7.4.2 The timescale for the preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan itself will be set by the   
community.

8.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

8.1 This report affects Pinchbeck and Surfleet Parish.

9.0 ACRONYMS 

9.1 None

Background papers:- None

Page 63



Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Lucy Buttery – Planning Policy Officer
Telephone Number: (01775) 764470
Email: lbuttery@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Submitted Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan area boundary

Page 64



P
age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	6.a) Final Reports of the Reduction in Printing and Postage Task Group
	PDP Task Group Report - Committee Agenda Printing v3 .1
	PDP Task Group Report - External Printing v1 .1
	PDP Task Group Report - Officer Agenda Printing v1. 1

	7. Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan
	Enc. 1 for Surfleet Neighbourhood Plan


